IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

SANDRA FROSTI,	
Appellant/Petitioner, v.	Case No. SC07-122
LA VERNE CREEL, as personal represent of the estate of WILLIAM H. HOUK,	tative
Appellee/Respondent.	/
PETITIONER'S INITIAL BEOND ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND	

WILLIAM J. CAPITO, ESQUIRE 511 Old Grove Drive Lutz, Florida 33548 813-247-2222 Florida Bar No. 522783 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Sandra Frosti, will be referred to as "Frosti". Respondent, Laverne Creel, as personal representative of William Houk will be referred to as "Creel." Rule 1.442 and 1.525, Fla. R. Civ. P. will appear as "R. 1.442" and "R. 1.525" respectively. The decision affirming the trial court Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Attorney's Fees, *Frosti v. Creel*, 943 So.2d 1023 (2nd DCA 2006) will appear as *Frosti v. Creel*.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The facts surrounding this appeal are simple and straightforward. Plaintiff *served* a proposal for settlement on the defendant in the amount of \$17,999 on March 22, 2001 and a Notice of Filing was filed with the Clerk (R-7) specifically as required by the rule, R. 1.442. Long after the offer had expired, a second proposal was *served* in the amount of \$24,999 on June 3, 2004 with the Notice filed with the Clerk (R-85). A jury trial was held in which a verdict was returned in favor of the Plaintiff in the amount of \$94,470.66.

On August 18, 2004 both original proposals were filed for the sole purpose of enforcement and sanction. (R-168) The Notice of Filing contained the following language:

"COMES NOW Plaintiff, SANDRA FROSTI, by and through her undersigned counsel, and gives this its notice that on this date the Proposals for Settlement previously served upon counsel for Defendant, HOUK, as provided in Florida Statutes Section 768.79 and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442 are being filed as required by aforesaid Rule and Statute for *enforcement and sanction.*"

Thereafter, Plaintiff filed a timely Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 768.79 and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442 and Florida Statute Section 57.104. A hearing was held on Plaintiff's Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs and an Order entered by the court denying Plaintiff's motion related to fees. It is this <u>Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion</u> for Fees dated June 21, 2005 from which this appeal is taken (R-252-254).

Ms. Frosti appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal which affirmed the trial court's decision. This petition ensued as *Frosti v Creel* is in direct with *Mills v. Martinez*, 909 So. 2d 340 (5th DCA 2005).

The facts also include that an erroneous Judgment that was executed on September 20, 2004 was vacated, due to a failure of the trial court to transmit copies of the judgment to the parties pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.080 (h), by Order dated April 7, 2005 (R- 247). A second judgment was entered and again a timely Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs was served. Costs were awarded to the Plaintiff as a result of Plaintiff's timely motion for Attorney Fees and Costs.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442 "(d) *Service and Filing*. --A proposal shall be served on the party or parties to whom it is made but shall not be filed unless

necessary to enforce the provisions of this rule." Additionally, "(i) Evidence of Proposal. -- Evidence of a proposal or acceptance thereof is admissible only in proceedings to enforce an accepted proposal or to determine the imposition of sanctions. It is important to note that nothing in either provision speaks to the timing of the filing of the proposals. Clearly, the rule does not address any timing issue, the only directive relates to the purpose for filing, that purpose being for enforcement and sanction. The proposals for settlement were filed at a time after the proposals had expired and after a jury verdict was returned. It was after the return of the verdict when entitlement had already accrued. The proposals were filed for the express purpose of *enforcement and sanction*. The language in these portions of the rule have remained unchanged from the time the cause of action accrued until the time enforcement and sanction were sought, in spite of changes that were made to other portions of the rule (R. 1.442 (d) and (i)).

There was simply no violation of any rule or statute and the cases relied on by the court do not apply. Additionally, there was nothing for the court to strictly construe.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is *de novo* review as the issues presented by this appeal are purely legal issues. See *Execu-Tech Bus. Sys. v. New Oji Paper Co.*, 752 So. 2d 582 (Fla.2000).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES BASED ON PREMATURE FILING OF PROPOSALS FOR SETTLEMENT

The Court erred in relying on *Bottcher v. Walsh*, 843 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 2DCA 2002) and *Browning v. Scott*, 884 So. 2d 298 (2DCA 2004) as neither decision control the issues presented by this appeal. Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442 provides "(d) Service and Filing. -- A proposal shall be served on the party or parties to whom it is made but shall not be filed unless necessary to enforce the provisions of this rule." Additionally, "(i) Evidence of Proposal. -- Evidence of a proposal or acceptance thereof is admissible only in proceedings to enforce an accepted proposal or to determine the imposition of sanctions." It is important to note that nothing in either provision speaks to the timing of the filing of the proposals. Clearly, the rule does not address any timing issue, the only directive relates to the purpose for filing, that purpose being for enforcement and sanction. That is exactly what was done by Frosti, the proposals were filed for enforcement and sanction after a significant verdict was entered in favor of the Plaintiff.

The cases related to the timing under R. 1.442 all relate to portions of the rule that specify well defined exacting time periods which are clear and unequivocal. For example in *Schussel v. Ladd Hairdressers, Inc.*, 736 So.

2d 776 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) provision required that any offer be made not later than 45 days before trial might begin. The Fourth District Court of Appeal was interpreting a bar date for offers set forth in R. 1.442 (b). The rule also provides that a proposal to a defendant shall be served no earlier than 90 days after service of process on that defendant and a proposal to a plaintiff shall be served no earlier than 90 days after the action has been commenced. The Second district relies on Schussel to support its decision in Bottcher. The Fourth District held that since the proposal was served in violation of the time requirements of the Rule, that the proposal for settlement was simply unenforceable. There was no way to resolve the timing issue and the time had passed to serve another proposal. The Fourth District did not rule that the proposal was void.

It is difficult to discern where the Second District derived the draconian sanction of rendering a proposal for settlement void as it did in *Frosti v. Creel*, but it is clear that the sanction did not come from *Schussel*. If there were some technical violation of the R. 1.442 by Frosti then the appropriate remedy would have been to strike the proposal form the record, not to render it void. Frosti would have had an opportunity to file the proposal within the period prescribed by the Second District's view, whenever that is.

R. 1.442 also provides that any party seeking sanctions pursuant to applicable Florida law, based on the failure of the proposal's recipient to accept a proposal, shall do so by serving a motion in accordance with R. 1.525. What is clear is that absolutely nothing in either Rule prohibits the filing of the valid proposals for settlement after the return of the jury verdict. Certainly, there are no clearly defined time parameters set forth in R. 1.442 that specifically dictate when a proposal can be or should be filed.

What was the intent of the framers of the Rule when they required that the proposals not be filed when the offer was made? The only logical purpose would be to prevent the finder of fact from discovering what settlement offers have been made so as to prevent them from being influenced by the offers. Additionally, if a proposal was filed before the trial on the merits the press or the general public could access and publish the information and possibly influence the outcome of the case. These dangers are not present after the return of the jury verdict.

Prior versions of the Rule also support this general interpretation. In R. 1.442 (g) (2000), a party seeking sanction must serve a Motion for Fees and Costs within 30 days after entry of the judgment in a non-jury action and the return of the verdict in a jury action. (emphasis added) Both of

these occasions represent the time after which the finder of fact has finished deliberations and made a final determination. R. 1.442 (2000) did not include any reference to R. 1.525 as the amendment to R. 1.442 and the adoption of R. 1.525 was effective January 1, 2001. Most importantly R. 1.442 (d) and (i) (2000) contain the same language as the current Rule and remain unchanged.

The cases cited by Creel and relied upon by the court merely demonstrate that filing a proposal at the time of service is premature. The trial court in its opinion relied on two cases which are easily distinguished from the case at bar. The trial court's assertion contained in its Order that these cases, *Bottcher* and *Browning*, clearly indicate that a "prejudgment" filing" of the proposal will preclude an award of fees is also erroneous, as these cases do not support this conclusion. The trial court and the district court failed to recognize this flaw in the trial court's Order. Bottcher v. Walsh, 843 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 2DCA 2002), while decided in 2002, it involved interpretation of a prior version of R. 1.442 (2000) which required that a party seeking sanction (attorney fees) shall serve a motion within 30 days after the return of the verdict in a jury action. The undisputed facts in *Frosti* v. Creel make it clear that both the proposals for settlement and the initial Motion for Attorney Fees were filed within this time. The trial court is

clearly in error in basing its denial of fees to *Frosti v. Creel* on the *Bottcher* decision. In any event, *Bottcher* does not stand for the proposition that a *prejudgment* filing of a proposal for settlement precludes the award of fees. *Bottcher* simply stands for the proposition that a proposal for settlement that is served at the same time it is filed in premature and thus, in the view of the Second District, void.

In *Bottcher* the matter of *premature filing was conceded* by Walsh's counsel, as it was without question filed prematurely in violation of the rule. First, it was filed before the offer had expired and second no verdict or judgment had been returned and as such there was absolutely no possible way for it to have been filed for enforcement or sanction. The second case cited by the court is *Browning v. Scott, 884 So. 2d 298 (2DCA 2004)*. The *Browning* case is likewise decided based on the prior version of R. 1.442 (2000) and in that case as in *Bottcher*, Mr. Scott *conceded that his proposal was filed prematurely*. Neither *Bottcher* nor *Browning* serves as a proper foundation for denial of attorney fees to Frosti.

Falling afoul of the premature filing *Bottcher* admonition can happen to the most accomplished of practitioners like Creel's Board Certified Civil trial counsel, Jeffrey Adams, Esquire in the instant case. The record herein

reveals that Mr. Adams, like counsel in *Bottcher* and *Browning* filed Creel's proposal at the same time they were served (R-50). In contrast, Frosti properly *served* her proposals for settlement within all of the prescribed time deadlines, hoping for early resolution of this matter, but finding none. The proposals were rejected by the Defendant's by the passage of time and they had accrued into a substantive right to recover attorney fees pending only the outcome at trial. (See, Kaufman v Smith, 693 So. 2d 133 (4DCA 1997). Frosti plodded through the veritable mine field of changes to the Statute and Rule and case law interpretation which took place from 1996 when the cause of action accrued through 2004 when she was forced to trial which resulted in a favorable verdict of \$94,470.66. The verdict was well beyond the amount requested in the \$17,999 or \$24,999 proposals for settlement she had demanded. She had crossed the finish line and won the race. At that juncture, it was not too early to file a Motion for Attorney Fees, and it was not premature to file the proposals for settlement which outline the basis for an attorney fee award.

The Court Commentary attendant to the adoption of R.1.525 provides, "This rule only establishes a time requirement to serve motions for costs, attorneys' fees, or both and in no way affects or overrules the pleading requirements outlined by this Court in *Stockman v. Downs*, *573 So. 2d 835*

(Fla. 1991)." Stockman, provides an interesting perspective with regard to when it is appropriate to plead the basis for attorney fees. In its analysis this Court stated, "Our review of the case law leads us to the conclusion that the better view is the one expressed in our earlier cases-a claim for attorney's fees, whether based on statute or contract, must be pled. The fundamental concern is one of notice. Modern pleading requirements serve to notify the opposing party of the claims alleged and prevent unfair surprise. 40 Fla.Jur.2d *Pleadings* § 2 (1982). Raising entitlement to attorney's fees only after judgment fails to serve either of these objectives." While it is not possible to plead the issue of attorney fees based on Fla. Stat. 768.79 or R. 1.442 in the complaint or answer, it appears incumbent to file the statutory basis for attorney fees as soon as possible, based on the principles announced in *Stockman*. Obviously, by filing the proposals for settlement after the verdict was obtained Frosti complied with that mandate and the Defendant should have no cause for complaint. The Court Commentary is also explicit in that R. 1.525 only establishes the time requirements for serving the Motion for Fees and Costs. It does not establish any requirements for filing of proposals for settlement in the court record.

The trial court next relies on *Lyn v. Lyn*, 884 So. 2d 181, which concerns a premature filing of a Motion for Attorneys Fees (not a proposal

for settlement) under R. 1.525 under what this Honorable Court has dubbed a bright-line rule. As this Court is aware, Lyn case does not address the issue of filing of an expired proposal for settlement after a jury verdict is returned. Rather, it stands for the proposition that one must file a motion for attorney fees within 30 days after entry of the judgment as is required by R.1.525. It would appear that the Lyn line of cases has been implicitly overruled by this Court's discharge of jurisdiction, after accepting jurisdiction, in Norris v Treadwell, 934 So. 2d 1207 (2006) and the adoption of the revised rule which clarified this Court's interpretation of the Rule to mean "no later than". See R. 1.525(2006). It would appear that the brightline that was established by 1.525 is the latest point in time to file such a motion, and not the strict position espoused by the Second District creating a narrow 30-day window in which to file a motion after entry of a judgment.

Bruce J. Berman highlighted the intention of the Civil Procedure Rules Committee in enacting the 2000 amendments, "The undersigned, a 20 year member and former two-term chair of the Civil Procedure Rules Committee, who served on the Committee when it proposed amendment to add the new Rule 1.525, believes that the Committee's intent in making such proposal, as well as the Court's intent in its decision to adopt the new Rule, were both premised upon the value of prescribing an *outside date or*

deadline, after which no such motion could be entertained". Berman goes on to say, that "the undersigned does not believe, however, that, in better defining the deadline for post judgment determination of fees and costs, it was ever the intent of either the Committee or this Court, to prescribe a beginning date for filing of motions for such relief. Nor does the undersigned believe that it was ever the intent of the Committee or of this Court to prohibit or nullify a motion filed too early, with the effect of depriving a party of its right to seek fees. Yet, the language of R. 1.525 as adopted (within 30 days of filing of the judgment) had caused courts applying the Rule, albeit reluctantly, to reject as untimely motions filed before the filing of judgment, with the effect of depriving parties of the right to recover fees and costs altogether. See, eg Lyn v. Lyn, 884 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Swan v. Dinan, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). Respectfully, such outcome serves no purpose."

The Fifth District Court of Appeal addressed the issue of "too early" in the case of *Martin Daytona Corporation v. Strickland Construction Services*, 921 So. 2d 1220 (5DCA 2006). In that case the Court observed that "Cases decided by the First, Third, and Fourth District Courts construing the initial version of R. 1.525 held that the Rule set an outside deadline for serving a Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs and that

Menry v. Hertz Corp., 927 So.2d 66, 68 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); Swift v. Wilcox, 924 So.2d 885, 887 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) ("[W]e hold that Rule 1.525 'establishes the latest point at which a prevailing party may serve a motion for fees and costs.'") (quoting Norris v. Treadwell, 907 So.2d 1217, 1218 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), review dismissed, 934 So.2d 1207 (Fla.2006))."

The Second District is the only district that held a contrary view which appears to have been overruled as stated above. The Fifth District took the view that courts are free to consider subsequently enacted legislation in determining the meaning of a statute.

Frosti was caught up in the Second District's restrictive interpretation of R. 1.525 as Judge Rondolino clearly sets forth in his Order, ..." the Court finds the motion for fees was invalid and cannot be used to support the prematurely filed Offer of Judgment. As a result, the holdings in *Bottcher* and *Browning* require a rejection of the Plaintiff's claim for fees based upon it." It would appear that had Judge Rondolino had the benefit of the most recent case law and the Committee's intent in adopting the rule that the outcome would have been different.

Clearly, R. 1.442 addresses the issue of enforcement of the sanction through R. 1.525 but neither Rule sets forth when the proposal may be filed. Additionally, the actual filing of the proposal under R. 1.442 section (d) is simply a ministerial act as the Rule further provides under R. 1.442 section (i) that evidence of the proposal is only *admissible* only in a proceeding to enforce an accepted proposal or to determine the imposition of sanctions. In Frosti the proposals were properly admitted into evidence in accordance with this Rule at the hearing on the Motion for Attorney Fees that is the subject of this appeal. Frosti's actions were clearly in accord with the provisions of both R. 1.442 and R. 1.525.

Norris v Treadwell, 907 So. 2d 1217 (1DCA 2005), review dismissed, 934 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 2006), provides the first appellate decision concerning when entitlement to fees begins under Fla. Stat. 768.79 and R. 1.442. Norris is a R. 1.525 case, and the district court held, "The party seeking fees may serve a motion as soon as entitlement is established. The motion, however, must be served no later than 30 days after filing of the judgment. Here, the jury verdict triggered entitlement." (d.) While the Court in that opinion acknowledges the conflict with Swann v. Dinan, 884 So. 2d 398 (2DCA 2004) on the issues surrounding R. 1.525, the analysis with regard to the issue of entitlement remains unchallenged. The acknowledgement of when

entitlement begins, after the return of the verdict, further bolsters the contention that the filing of the proposals for settlement post verdict was not at all premature. Like *Lyn*, it is difficult to fathom that *Swann* remains viable precedent.

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