IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

SANDRA FROSTI,

Appellant/Petitioner,

vs. Case No.: SC07-122 DCA No.: 2D05-3270

LA VERNE CREEL, as personal representative of the estate of WILLIAM H. HOUK,

Appel	ee/Respondent.	

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Scot E. Samis Abbey, Adams, Byelick Kiernan, Mueller & Lancaster, L.L.P. 360 Central Avenue, 11th Floor Post Office Box 1511 St. Petersburg, Florida 33731-1511 (727) 821-2080 telephone (727) 823-6535 facsimile Florida Bar No. 0651753/SPN No. 705713 Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The are two independently dispositive reasons to affirm the order denying the Petitioner's Motion for Attorney's Fees in this case. First, the district court was correct in denying fees where the underlying Proposal for Settlement was filed prematurely. Second, the judgment obtained did not meet the threshold for an award.

1. Premature filing

It is undisputed that the Petitioner filed her proposal 33 days prior to the original Final Judgment and 23 days prior to her original Motion for Attorney's Fees. The relevant statute and rule prohibit filing a proposal until it is necessary for enforcement of the fee claim. The statute and applicable Florida Supreme Court precedent establish that it is the judgment, not the verdict, that triggers the right to seek fees. Hence, filing is not necessary until after a judgment is entered that allows enforcement. By filing her proposal prior to the entry of judgment, the Petitioner violated the statute.

The Second District correctly affirmed the trial court's ruling that a prematurely filed proposal for settlement will not support a fee claim. This view is consistent with several prior rulings by the Florida Supreme Court that strictly apply the requirements of both Rule 1.442 and s. 768.79, and has been further

vindicated by the subsequent opinion in *Campbell v. Goldman*, 32 FLW S320 (Fla. June 14, 2007).

Petitioner argues for a broad construction of the Rule 1.442 and s. 768.79. The only way for Petitioner to prevail would be for this Court to abandon the strict construction it has repeatedly set forth in this area of the law, and adopt a view contrary to the longstanding tenet that fee awards are in derogation of common law and can only be obtained by strict adherence to all required procedures. There is no reason to do so. This Court has sent a consistent message on these issues that should not be undermined by a reversal here.

2. The judgment does not meet the threshold for a fee award.

Even if the Proposal for Settlement had been properly filed, it still would not support a fee award in this case.

Petitioner's Proposal for Settlement separated the amounts proposed for compensatory (\$24,998) and punitive (\$1) damages. In addition, the proposal provided that neither could be accepted individually. The result at trial was an award of compensatory damages that was less than the amount demanded for compensatory damages in the proposal, but a punitive damages award that exceeded the one dollar demand.

Again, the rule and statute are in derogation of the common law, and therefore must be strictly interpreted in favor of the rule that a party pays his own

attorneys' fees. Neither the statute nor rule gives instruction on the issue of a judgment that exceeds the punitive damages part of a proposal, but does not exceed the threshold for the compensatory damages demand. Given this ambiguity, and since Mr. Houk was unable to accept one portion of the proposal without accepting the other, both awards must exceed the 125% threshold in order to justify an award of fees. That did not occur. Hence, there would be no basis for a fee award even if the proposal had been properly filed.

Such a result would also be consistent with the objectives of the rule and statute in encouraging reasonable demands and settlements. By the Petitioner's own design, Mr. Houk could not have accepted the punitive damages offer and litigated the disputed compensatory damage offer. When the Petitioner imposed the all-or-nothing condition of accepting both offers, she accepted, as a consequence, the requirement of passing the threshold on both offers as well.

Under either analysis, the ruling below must be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellee agrees that a ruling construing the time and form requirements of s. 768.79 Fla. Stat. and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442 is reviewed *de novo*. See, e.g., *Campbell v. Goldman*, 32 FLW S320 (Fla. June 14, 2007).

ARGUMENT

Issue on Review (Restated)

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES WHERE:

- (1) THE PROPOSAL WAS FILED PRIOR TO ENTRY OF FINAL JUDGMENT; AND
- (2) THE COMPENSATORY DAMAGES
 OBTAINED DID NOT EXCEED THE
 THRESHOLD AMOUNTS.

1. The Premature Filing of the Proposal is Fatal to the Petitioner's Fee Claim.

It is undisputed that the Petitioner filed her proposal 33 days prior to the original Final Judgment and 23 days prior to her original motion for fees. Both Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442(d) and Fla. Stat. s. 768.79(3) provide that the offer/proposal shall be served upon the party to whom it is made, but shall not be filed unless filing is necessary to enforce the provisions of the rule/statute. The relevant provisions are as follows:

Rule 1.442. Proposals for Settlement

* * *

(d) Service and filing. A proposal shall be served on the party or parties to whom it is made but shall not be filed unless necessary to enforce the provisions of this rule. 768.79 Offer of Judgment and Demand for Judgment. –

* * *

(3) The offer shall be served upon the party to whom it is made, but it shall not be filed unless it is accepted or unless filing is necessary to enforce the provisions of this section.

* * *

Petitioner argues that "nothing in either provision speaks to the timing of the filing of the proposals." [Initial Brief, p. 6]. This fails to recognize the obvious consequence of prohibiting parties from filing proposals until it is necessary to pursue a fee award. This creates a time frame that begins when a party has established the right to fees. The event that triggers that time frame is the entry of a judgment in a qualifying amount, as made clear by s. 768.79(1):

(1) ...If a plaintiff files a demand for judgment which is not accepted by the defendant within 30 days and the plaintiff recovers a judgment in an amount at least 25 percent greater than the offer, she or he shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred from the date of the filing of the demand.

The obvious import of this language was recognized by this Court in *White* v. Steak & Ale of Florida, Inc., 816 So. 2d 546 (Fla. 2002), where it was ruled that pre-offer costs would be included in calculating the "judgment obtained" in determining whether the 125% threshold was reached. This removes any doubt

that it is the judgment, and not the verdict, that allows enforcement of a fee claim under s. 768.79 and Rule 1.442.³ Hence, until the judgment is obtained, it is not necessary to file the proposal for settlement - - and consequently, filing a proposal before entry of a judgment violates the statute and rule.

In the present case, not only did the Petitioner file her proposal prior to the Final Judgment, she filed it 23 days prior to her original motion for fees. It is difficult to see how filing was then "necessary," since there was no qualifying judgment, post-trial motions were still pending, and the fee motion itself was not even filed until over three weeks later. The trial court and Second District had no choice but to deny the Petitioner's fee claim in this case.

A review of Florida Supreme Court jurisprudence in this area vindicates the Second District's view. If there is a single message that this Court has attempted to convey in addressing compliance with Rule 1.442 and s. 768.79, it is this: Statutes and rules permitting fee-shifting are in derogation of common law, and must be strictly construed. Therefore, any deviation from the stated procedural requirements will prevent a fee award.

³ On page 16 of the Initial Brief, Petitioner points to a comment in *Norris v*. *Treadwell*, 907 So. 2d 1217 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) that "the jury verdict triggered entitlement [to fees]." That case addressed a separate issue involving Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.525. More importantly, the comment is contrary to the language of s. 768.79(1) and the correct analysis by this Court in *White*.

One of the best illustrations of this view may be the most recent. Campbell v. Goldman, 32 FLW S320 (Fla. June 14, 2007), the plaintiff served a proposal for settlement on the defendant which made reference to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442, but did not cite s. 768.79. After obtaining a judgment that exceeded the necessary threshold, the plaintiff sought fees based on the proposal. The trial court denied the motion, but the Fourth District reversed, despite recognizing this Court's repeated admonitions of strict construction in Willis Shaw Express, Inc. v. Hilyer Sod, Inc., 849 So.2d 276, 278 (Fla. 2003), Sarkis v. Allstate Insurance Company, 863 So.2d 210, 218 (Fla. 2003), Major League Baseball v. Morsani, 790 So.2d 1071, 1078-79 (Fla. 2001), and TGI Fridays, Inc. v. Dvorak, 663 So.2d 606, 615 (Fla. 1995). Not surprisingly, this Court quashed the Fourth District's ruling and reinstated the trial court's order denying fees, concluding that the strict construction rule applies to the requirement that the offer must cite the statute.

The *Campbell* opinion is simply the latest example of a message this Court has been sending for over a decade. See, e.g., *TGI Fridays, Inc. v. Dvorak*, 663 So.2d 606, 614-615 (Fla. 1995)(observing that s. 768.79 should be strictly construed due to the longstanding adherence in Florida law to the "American Rule" and the penal nature of a fee award)(Justice Wells, concurring and dissenting in part); *Major League Baseball v. Morsani*, 790 So.2d 1071, 1078-1079 (Fla.

2001)(statutes in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed); Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Hingson, 808 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 2002)(denying fees where party violated statute by serving joint, undifferentiated proposal for settlement); Willis Shaw Express, Inc. v. Hilyer Sod, Inc., 849 So.2d 276, 278 (Fla. 2003)(language of rule and statute dealing with proposals for settlement must be strictly construed because they are in derogation of the common law rule that each party pay its own fees); Sarkis v. Allstate Insurance Company, 863 So.2d 210, 223 (Fla. 2003)(denying fee multiplier under a proposal for settlement: "...a statute imposing a penalty must by strictly construed in favor of the one against whom the penalty is imposed and is never extended by construction."); and Lamb v. Matetzschk, 906 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 2005)(strictly construing Rule 1.442(c)(3) to deny fees when joint proposal for settlement failed to apportion between two defendants, even where one of the defendant's alleged liability was purely vicarious).

The Second District's view is faithful to this body of law. In *Hess v. Walton*, 898 So. 2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005), Chief Judge Altenbernd noted that there are two reasons for strict construction of the subject rule and statute, since they are both in derogation of the common law and create a penalty [citing *Sarkis* and *Willis Shaw*]. The present case is no exception.

Petitioner does not discuss or even recognize any of the Supreme Court decisions, but rather argues for an interpretation of the rule and statute based on her perception of the "intent of the framers of the Rule" and the conflicting decision in Mills v. Martinez, 909 So. 2d 340 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). [Initial Brief, pp. 8,17]. This broad construction is diametrically opposed to virtually every opinion issued by this Court on the topic, as illustrated by the Mills court's reliance on In re Rutherfurd's Estate, 304 So. 2d 517, 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) for the view that a trial court should "relax procedural requirements" in favor of reaching their "great object." This may be appropriate in cases like Rutherfurd, which dealt "special circumstances" involving the technical requirements for a continuance in a probate case - - but is exactly the type of analysis this Court has rejected in cases addressing fee-shifting. In the case at bar, the proper guidance comes from this Court's consistently strict reading of the relevant rule and statute, and rejection of fee claims whenever there is any deviation from the required procedures.

It is worth noting that even a broad construction of the rule would not justify a fee award in the present case. The objective of the rule is not only, as Petitioner argues, to prevent the jury from hearing evidence of settlement efforts. In fact, that aim is addressed separately in Rule 1.442(i) and s. 768.79(8), which limit the admissibility of proposals to enforcement proceedings. If excluding proposals from the evidence were the only objective, there would be no need for the

additional prohibition against filing contained in Rule 1.442(d) and s. 768.79(3). It is axiomatic that statutory provisions should be construed to exist for a purpose and not interpreted as superfluous. See, e.g., *Hechtman v. Nations Title Ins. of New York*, 840 So. 2d 993, 996 (Fla. 2003)("It is an elementary principle of statutory construction that significance and effect must be given to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of the statute as possible, and words in a statute should not be construed as mere surplusage."). Hence, the proper interpretation of Rule 1.442 and s. 768.79 is that the framers did not want proposals for settlement appearing in the court file until filing is absolutely necessary - - which is after the judgment has been rendered.

There is no support in Florida law for Petitioner's suggestion that the proper remedy for a violation of Rule 1.442..."would have been to strike the proposal from the record" to give her an opportunity to file the proposal within the proper time period. [Initial Brief, p. 7]. In this Court and all five districts, the consequence of violating the rule or statute concerning proposals for settlement is forfeiture of the right to obtain attorneys' fees. See, e.g., *Campbell*, <u>supra</u>, *Heyman v. Free*, 913 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), *Easters v. Russell*, 942 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006), *Oasis v. Espinoza*, 954 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), *Graham v. Peter K. Yeskel 1996 Irrevocable Trust*, 928 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), *D.A.B. Constructors, Inc. v. Oliver*, 914 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005).

On pages 910 of the Initial Brief, Petitioner argues that the reasoning of prior Second District cases *Bottcher v. Walsh*, 843 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) and *Browning v. Scott*, 884 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), do not apply to the present situation because they involved proposals that were filed prior to verdict. This misses the point. The fact that *Bottcher* and *Scott* involved proposals that were filed even earlier in the proceedings than Ms. Frosti's does not change the fact that Ms. Frosti's proposal was premature as well. Filing a proposal prior to judgment violates the rule. Whether it is filed a day before or months before - or before or after the verdict - is irrelevant.⁴

Next, Petitioner asserts that defense counsel filed the Respondent's proposal for settlement at the time it was served, apparently to imply that an improper filing by opposing counsel would excuse her own violation of the Rule. Respondent would first point out that the assertion is false - - defense counsel filed a one-page Notice of Service of Offer of Judgment/Proposal for Settlement, which only stated that such a document was served. The actual proposal itself was not attached or otherwise filed - - because to do so would violate the rule and statute. More importantly, if defense counsel had in fact filed a proposal prematurely, then the

⁴ If the Petitioner's argument is that this case does not create conflict due to this distinction, then the present review should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

consequence would be exactly the same as it is for the Petitioner here - - the denial of any motion for fees based on the proposal.

The requirement that claims for attorneys' fees must be pled as stated in *Stockman v. Downs*, 573 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1991) has no bearing on the present case. The general view that a party should be put on notice of a claim for attorneys' fees deals with entirely separate issues and has no bearing on the requirements of Rule 1.442.

The remainder of the Initial Brief discusses conflicting District Court cases dealing with the timing of fee motions under the old version of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.525. The Second District properly applied the same rule of strict construction in those cases. See, e.g., *Diaz v. Brown*, 832 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), *Gulf Landings Association, Inc. v. Hershberger*, 845 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), *Swann v. Dinan*, 884 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) and *Lyn v. Lyn*, 884 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). The conflicting case on Rule 1.525 cited by Petitioner, *Norris v. Treadwell*, 907 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), was originally accepted for review by the Florida Supreme Court, but review was later dismissed because Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.525 was amended to set a deadline rather than a window. *Norris*

v. Treadwell, 934 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 2006).⁵ This does not "overrule" the Second District decisions.

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